
  

 
Stayton City Council Agenda  Page 1 of 4 
January 22, 2019 

 AGENDA 
STAYTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

Tuesday, January 22, 2019 
Stayton Community Center 

400 W. Virginia Street 
Stayton, Oregon  97383 

 

CITY COUNCIL EXECUTIVE SESSION 
6:30 p.m. in the Stayton Public Library’s E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
The purpose of the session is pursuant to Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 

192.660.2(f), to consider information or records that are exempt by law from public 
inspection. Executive Sessions are closed to the public. 

 
CALL TO ORDER   7:00 PM   Mayor Porter 
 
 
FLAG SALUTE 
 
 
ROLL CALL/STAFF INTRODUCTIONS 
 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS – PLEASE READ CAREFULLY 
Items not on the agenda but relevant to City business may be discussed at this meeting. Citizens are encouraged to attend all 
meetings of the City Council to insure that they stay informed. Agenda items may be moved forward if a Public Hearing is 
scheduled. 

a. Additions to the agenda 
b. Declaration of Ex Parte Contacts, Conflict of Interest, Bias, etc.  
 
 
PRESENTATIONS/COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
Request for Recognition:  If you wish to address the Council, please fill out a green “Request for Recognition” form.  
Forms are on the table at the back of the room. Recommended time for presentation is 10 minutes. Recommended 
time for comments from the public is 3 minutes. 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
a. January 7, 2019 City Council Minutes 
 
Purpose of the Consent Agenda: 
In order to make more efficient use of meeting time, resolutions, minutes, bills, and other items which are routine in nature and 
for which no debate is anticipated, shall be placed on the Consent Agenda.  Any item placed on the Consent Agenda may be 
removed at the request of any council member prior to the time a vote is taken.  All remaining items of the Consent Agenda are 
then disposed of in a single motion to adopt the Consent Agenda.  This motion is not debatable.  The Recorder to the Council will 
then poll the council members individually by a roll call vote.  If there are any dissenting votes, each item on the consent Agenda 
is then voted on individually by roll call vote.  Copies of the Council packets include more detailed staff reports, letters, 
resolutions, and other supporting materials.  A citizen wishing to review these materials may do so at Stayton City Hall, 362 N. 
Third Avenue, Stayton, or the Stayton Public Library, 515 N. First Avenue, Stayton. 

The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. If you require special 
accommodations contact Deputy City Recorder Alissa Angelo at (503) 769-3425. 



  

 
Stayton City Council Agenda  Page 2 of 4 
January 22, 2019 

BUSINESS FROM THE MAYOR 
Committee and Commission Reappointments 
a. Planning Commission 

• Richard Lewis 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
Condition of Approval U, Regarding Parking Restrictions in the Village Creek Subdivision 
a. Commencement of Public Hearing 
b. Staff Report 
c. Questions from the Council 
d. Public Testimony 
e. Questions from the Council 
f. Staff Summary 
g. Close of Hearing 
h. Council Deliberation 
i. Council Decision 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
Annexation and Comprehensive Plan Map Amendment Applications, Hillyer  Action 
Ford, Golf Lane 
a. Staff Report – Dan Fleishman 
b. Council Deliberation 
c. Council Decision 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
Stayton Community Trails System       Informational 
a. Staff Report – Keith Campbell, Dan Fleishman, and Chief Rich Sebens 
 
Resolution No. 985, Amending Resolution No. 984 to conform to Requirements  Action 
Under the City Charter 
a. Staff Report – Andy Parks 
b. Council Deliberation 
c. Council Decision 
 
Economic Development Strategies Project      Informational 
a. Staff Report – Dan Fleishman 
 
STAFF/COMMISSION REPORTS – None  
 
PRESENTATIONS/COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
Recommended time for presentations is 10 minutes. 
Recommended time for comments from the public is 3 minutes. 
 
BUSINESS FROM THE CITY MANAGER 
a. Monthly Departmental Reports Online: 

• http://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/gov_cc_monthly_reports 
 

http://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/gov_cc_monthly_reports


  

 
Stayton City Council Agenda  Page 3 of 4 
January 22, 2019 

 
BUSINESS FROM THE MAYOR 
 
 
 
BUSINESS FROM THE COUNCIL 
 
 
 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS – February 4, 2019 
a. Mill Creek Park Concept Plan Presentation 
b. Recycling Award Presentation by Republic Services 
c. Downtown Parking 

 
ADJOURN 
 
 
 
. 
 
 
 



  

 
Stayton City Council Agenda  Page 4 of 4 
January 22, 2019 

CALENDAR OF EVENTS 
JANUARY 2019 

Monday January 21 CITY OFFICES CLOSED IN OBSERVANCE OF MARTIN LUTHER KING DAY 
Tuesday January 22 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Monday January 28 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

FEBRUARY 2019 
Saturday February 2 City Council Goal Setting 9:00 a.m. E.G Siegmund Meeting Room 
Monday February 4 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Tuesday February 5 Parks & Recreation Board 6:30 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Tuesday February 12 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 
Monday February 18 CITY OFFICES CLOSED IN OBSERVANCE OF PRESIDENTS DAY 
Tuesday February 19 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

Wednesday February 20 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Monday February 25 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

MARCH 2019 
Monday March 4 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Tuesday March 5 Parks & Recreation Board 6:30 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Tuesday March 12 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 
Monday March 18 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

Wednesday March 20 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Monday March 25 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

APRIL 2019 
Monday April 1 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Tuesday April 2 Parks & Recreation Board 6:30 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Tuesday April 9 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 
Monday April 15 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

Wednesday April 17 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Monday April 29 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

MAY 2019 
Monday May 6 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Tuesday May 7 Parks & Recreation Board 6:30 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Tuesday May 14 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 

Wednesday May 15 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Monday May 20 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Monday May 28 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
 



 
Stayton City Council Meeting Minutes                        Page 1 of 4 
January 7, 2019 

 City of Stayton 
City Council Meeting Action Minutes 

January 7, 2019 

LOCATION:  STAYTON COMMUNITY CENTER, 400 W. VIRGINIA STREET, STAYTON 

Time Start: 7:00 P.M.     Time End: 8:52 P.M. 

COUNCIL MEETING ATTENDANCE LOG 

COUNCIL STAYTON STAFF  
Mayor Henry Porter Alissa Angelo, Deputy City Recorder 
Councilor Paige Hook Keith Campbell, City Manager 
Councilor Christopher Molin Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning & Development 
Councilor Jordan Ohrt Lance Ludwick, Public Works Director 
Councilor David Patty Janna Moser, Library Director 
Councilor Brian Quigley Rich Sebens, Chief of Police 

 
AGENDA ACTIONS 

OATH OF OFFICE 
a. Oath of Office for Mayor Henry Porter 
b. Oath of Office for Councilors Paige Hook, Jordan 

Ohrt, and David Patty 

 
Ms. Angelo administered the oaths of office. 

REGULAR MEETING 
Announcements 
a. Additions to the Agenda 
b. Declaration of Ex Parte Contacts, Conflict of Interest, 

Bias, etc. 

 
None. 
Councilor Ohrt stated she drove past the Golf Lane site. 
Councilor Hook stated she was on the Planning Commission 
when the Hillyer Ford application was brought forward. 
 

Presentations / Comments from the Public None. 
Consent Agenda 
a. December 3, 2018 City Council Minutes 

 
Motion from Councilor Quigley, seconded by Councilor 
Molin, to approve the consent agenda as presented. Motion 
passed 5:0. 
 

Business from the Mayor 
Committee and Commission Reappointments 
a. Planning Commission 

• Heidi Hazel 
• Ralph Lewis 
• Jackie Carmichael 

 
b. Parks and Recreation Board 

• Daniel Brummer 
• Richard Lewis 

 
c. Budget Committee 

• Brent Walker 
• Luke Cranston 

 
 
Motion from Councilor Quigley, seconded by Councilor 
Hook, to ratify the Mayor’s reappointment of Heidi Hazel, 
Ralph Lewis, and Jackie Carmichael to the Planning 
Commission; Daniel Brummer and Richard Lewsi to the Parks 
and Recreation Board; and Brent Walker and Luke Cranston 
to the Budget Committee. Motion passed 5:0.  
 



 
Stayton City Council Meeting Minutes                        Page 2 of 4 
January 7, 2019 

Public Hearing 
Annexation and Comprehensive Plan Map Amendment 
Applications, Hillyer Ford, Golf Lane 
a. Commencement of Public Hearing 

 
 
 
 

b. Staff Introduction 
 

c. Applicant Presentation 
 
 
d. Staff Report 

 
e. Questions from the Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 

f. Proponents’ Testimony 
 
 

 
g. Opponents’ Testimony 

 
h. Governmental Agencies 
 
i. General Testimony 
 
j. Questions from the Public 

 
k. Questions from the Council 
 
l. Applicant Summary 

 
 

m. Staff Summary 
 

n. Close of Hearing 
 

o. Council Deliberation 
 
 
 
 

p. Council Decision on Ordinance No. 1028 

 
 
 
Mayor Porter opened the hearing at 7:04 p.m. Councilor 
Ohrt stated she drove past the site on Golf Lane. Councilor 
Quigley stated he attended the Planning Commission 
meetings on this topic but it will not affect his decision. 
 
Mr. Fleishman provided a staff introduction.  
 
Ronald Ped who represents Hillyer Ford on this project 
provided an overview of their proposal.  
 
Mr. Fleishman reviewed the staff report. 
 
Council questions regarding requirements to connect to City 
facilities, current zoning of the property, timing of 
realignment of Golf Lane to connect with the Whitney Street 
and Cascade Highway intersection, traffic concerns, and 
groundwater concerns expressed by neighbors. Mr. 
Fleishman responded. 
 
Brian Bay, 12063 Golf Lane, spoke in support of the 
application but also expressed concern about access to Golf 
Lane.  
 
None. 
 
None. 
 
None. 
 
None. 
 
Nothing further.  
 
Leo Hillyer, owner of Hillyer Ford, provided an applicant 
summary.  
 
Mr. Fleishman provided a staff summary. 
 
Mayor Porter closed the hearing at 8:21 p.m. 
 
Discussion of holding developer responsible to connect to 
City utilities in future and this setting a precedent by not 
requiring a connection now. These will need to be addressed 
in the Development Agreement.  
 
Motion to approve the applications of Leo Hillyer (Land Use 
File #19/09/18) for annexation of comprehensive plan 
amendment and assign Commercial General Zoning to the 



 
Stayton City Council Meeting Minutes                        Page 3 of 4 
January 7, 2019 

property by enacting Ordinance No. 1028 as presented. 
Motion passed 4:1 (Hook). 
 
Mayor Porter called for a brief break at 8:28 p.m. 
The meeting was reconvened at 8:34 p.m. 
 

Unfinished Business None. 
New Business 
Appointment of Council President 
a. Staff Report – Alissa Angelo 

 
b. Council Deliberation  
 
c. Council Decision 

 
 
 

Neighborhood Improvement Grants 
a. Staff Report – Dan Fleishman 

 
b. Council Deliberation  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

c. Council Decision 

 
 
Ms. Angelo reviewed the staff report. 
 
None. 
 
Motion from Councilor Hook, seconded by Councilor Patty, 
to appoint Councilor Quigley as Council President. Motion 
passed 5:0. 
 
 
Mr. Fleishman reviewed the staff report. 
 
Councilor Molin stated he lives in the Sylvan Springs 
neighborhood and will be recusing himself from this 
decision. 
 
Council discussion of the funding of the projects and how the 
selection process criteria. Suggestion of adding a criteria that 
considers median income of those in surrounding 
neighborhood. 
 
Motion from Councilor Patty, seconded by Councilor 
Quigley, to award a Neighborhood Improvement Grant to 
use Sylvan Springs application for $2,500 and to the 
Westown application for Westown Park improvements for 
$2,500. Motion passed 4:0 (Molin abstained). 
 

Staff / Commission Reports None. 
Presentations / Comments from the Public None. 
Business from the City Manager Mr. Campbell shared the upcoming Transportation System 

Plan Open House on Wednesday, January 9th from 5:30 p.m. 
to 7:00 p.m. at the Stayton Public Library.  

Business from the Mayor None. 
Business from the Council Councilor Quigley requested staff set a meeting date for the 

Ordinance 1019 committee to meet. 
Future Agenda Items – Tuesday, January 22, 2019 
a. Public Hearing – Village Creek No Parking 
b. Economic Development 
c. Trails Program 
d. Council Liaisons 
 



 
Stayton City Council Meeting Minutes                        Page 4 of 4 
January 7, 2019 

APPROVED BY THE STAYTON CITY COUNCIL THIS 22ND DAY OF JANUARY 2019, BY A ____ VOTE OF THE STAYTON CITY 
COUNCIL. 
 

Date:    By:   
  Henry A. Porter, Mayor 
 
Date:   Attest:   

 Keith D. Campbell, City Manager 
       
Date:  Transcribed by:        
   Alissa Angelo, Deputy City Recorder 







 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 

 FROM: Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 

 DATE: January 22, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Condition of Approval U Regarding Parking Restrictions in 
the Village Creek Subdivision 

  
 
ISSUE 

The issue before the City Council is a public hearing on whether to modify Condition of 
Approval U on the 2001 approval of the Village Creek subdivision. The condition restricted 
parking to one side only on the streets in the subdivision.  The City Council held a hearing on 
November 19, 2018 and at the conclusion of the hearing postponed a decision to allow for 
additional information to be gathered and legal counsel to be contacted.  With the seating of 
three new City Council members, it is recommended to hold a new hearing to make sure all 
sitting members of the City Council are familiar with the record. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

In the late 1990s when the Santiam Station development was proposed, what is now the Village 
Creek subdivision was proposed to be a mobile home park with privately-owned streets.  The 
streets were constructed within 50-foot rights of way, with 28 feet of paving between curbs, 
and with “rolled curbs”, that allow vehicular access at any point.   In 2001, after the streets 
were built, the developer decided to create a subdivision instead.   

ANALYSIS 

There are four streets within the subdivision:  Weldon St, Hobson St, Whitney St, and Grier Dr.  
The City’s standard for a local residential street is a 60-foot right of way with 34 feet of paving.  
This allows for two 10-foot travel lanes and two 7-foot parking lanes. 

In 2001, when the City Council approved the subdivision, the developer proposed that parking 
be allowed on only one side of each street in the subdivision.  Among the City Council’s findings 
at that time were the following: 

FINDING: 17.24.1040.7.b. identifies that minor streets (residential) call for a minimum 
right-of-way width of (60) sixty feet and a curb to curb width of (34) thirty four feet.  The 
applicant’s subdivision consists of (50) fifty feet of right-of-way with a (28) twenty eight foot 
improved road surface.  Because the street pavement has already been laid a determination 
has to be made to either find that the streets are of adequate right-of-way and improved 



 

surface width or require additional right-of-way and improved surface width.  Another 
alternative would be to secure (5) five foot easements on each side of the street rights-of-way 
and allow the existing road surface width with no parking on one side. 

The City Council approved the subdivision with a long list of conditions.  Among the conditions 
of approval imposed by the City Council in June 2001, was Condition U: 

U.  Install (5) five foot property line sidewalks along both sides with a (3) three foot parkway 
strip.  Parking permitted on one side only. 

Five months later, the City Council amended their June decision, including Condition U.  
Condition U, as amended, required the developer to “install curb line sidewalks along both 
sides of the street. Parking permitted on one side of the street only.” 

Apparently, the City did not require the developer to post no parking signs and did not do so at 
the time of acceptance of the streets.  The plat was recorded in June of 2001.  At the same time 
a set of Condition, Covenants and Restrictions for the subdivision were recorded.  The recorded 
CC&Rs do not mention a parking restriction on the streets. 

In 2014, the City received complaints of congested parking on Hobson St, due to a residence 
with five vehicles and the existence of in-home day care operation.  At that time staff 
discovered the conditions of approval referenced above and a decision was made for the City 
post no parking signs.  The Public Works Department and the Police Department at that time 
made a determination to post signs only on Hobson St and Grier Dr, as Hobson St was 
experiencing the parking issues.  A copy of the letter that was mailed to property owners on 
Hobson St and Grier Dr is attached. 

Included in the packet are memos received from the Stayton Police Department and the 
Stayton Fire District.  Staff accompanied Fire District personnel in the subdivision when they set 
up a ladder truck with the outriggers extended between two parked vehicles.  Photos of that 
exercise are also included in the packet.  Both the Police Department and Fire District have 
recommended that the Council not allow parking on both sides of the streets.  Staff was 
directed to consult with the City Attorney and the recommendation of staff remains 
unchanged. 

It should be noted that Section 17.24.100.2e allows streets with rights of way of 50 feet in 
master planned developments if, among other requirements, the on-street parking is restricted 
to only one side of the street. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Whereas the streets are developed with only 28 feet of paving, there is not adequate width to 
have vehicles parked on both sides of the streets in the Village Creek the subdivision.  Staff 
recommends maintaining the restriction to allow parking only one side of the street and further 
recommends that No Parking signs be posted on one side of the other two streets in the 
subdivision. 

OPTIONS AND MOTIONS 

The City Council is presented with the following options.  Staff recommends the first option. 



 

1. Retain the condition of approval for parking on only one side of the street for the streets in 
Village Creek subdivision and post no parking signs on Weldon St and Whitney St east of N 
Third Ave. 

Move to retain condition of approval U from Land Use File #121-10/01 unchanged and 
adopt the draft order as presented. 

2. Modify the condition of approval for parking on only one side of the street and request staff 
to modify the draft order to reflect that decision. 

Move to modify condition of approval U from Land Use File #121-10/01 as follows … and 
request that staff modify the draft order to reflect that decision and return to Council with a 
revised draft order at the next meeting. 





 

Village Creek Parking Issue  Page 1 of 1  
November 19, 2018 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
TO:   Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 
 
FROM:  Rich Sebens, Police Chief 
 
DATE:   November 19, 2018 
 
SUBJECT:  Comments Regarding Village Springs Neighborhood Parking 
  
     
ISSUE 
 
In 2014 the City of Stayton received numerous traffic complaint issues regarding the Village 
Creek Neighborhood development.  The issues have been regarding parking issues, speed 
issues, and emergency vehicle access some of which have been the catalyst for neighborhood 
disputes.  The original neighborhood development plan required signage to allow parking on 
only one side of the street due to the street width.  In 2014, the City determined the signs 
needed to be installed as originally required.  The neighbors were notified of the decision and 
signs were installed. 
 
Recently, some of the residents of this neighborhood have requested the parking revert to 
parking on both sided of the street as it was prior to 2014. 
 
Prior to 2014 the Police Department responded to 8 neighborhood issues regarding street 
issues.  Post 2014 there have been 6 neighborhood issues.  Most of the incidents have involved 
the same couple of families.  While responding to a recent medical issue, I witnessed an 
ambulance needing to park in the middle of the street blocking both directions of travel. 
 
After reviewing the issues, I do not believe that removing the signs will improve the issues.  It is 
my recommendation to not remove the signs but to keep the signs up allowing parking only on 
one side of the street.  It is also my recommendation to put signage on the rest of the 
neighborhood as required of the developer 
 



1

Dan Fleishman

From: Jack Carriger <Jack.Carriger@staytonfire.org>

Sent: Tuesday, November 13, 2018 4:50 PM

To: Dan Fleishman

Subject: Village Creek

To:       Dan Fleishman 
             City of Stayton 
 
From:   Jack Carriger, Fire Chief 
            Stayton Fire District 
 
In regards to emergency vehicle operations on “skinny streets”; those streets with less than 34 feet of designated 
driving surface. 
Stayton Fire District, though practical analyses, has determined that parking on both sides of skinny streets 
severely hampers or eliminates  
its ability to provide fire suppression.  
 
Skinny streets restrict or eliminate the required working space around apparatus firefighters need to utilize the 
apparatus 
and equipment in a safe and efficient manner. This lack of space creates safety issues as well as operability and 
property damage issues. 
Additionally, with vehicles parked on both sides of a skinny street Stayton Fire District is unable to deploy its 
ladder truck for suppression  
efforts due to the lack space between the two vehicles. This eliminates the use of the District’s most powerful 
piece of suppression apparatus.  
 
In conclusion, Stayton Fire District’s opinion is, it is in the best interest of public safety to limit skinny street 
parking to one side of the street.  
 
If you have any questions or if I can be of further assistance please feel free to contact me at my office number 
listed below.     
 
Respectfully,  

Jack R. Carriger 
Fire Chief 
Stayton Fire District 
503-769-2601 
 







 

City Council Order, Land Use File #20-10/18 
Modification of Condition U, Village Creek Subdivision 

Page 1 of 4 

BEFORE THE STAYTON CITY COUNCIL 
 

In the matter of )  
the reconsideration of  ) Land Use File 
Condition of Approval U, ) #20-10/18 
Village Creek Subdivision ) 

 

ORDER OF DENIAL 

I. NATURE OF THE APPLICATION 

The application was initiated by the City Council to consider possible amendment to Condition of 
Approval U from Land Use File 21-10/01.  The City Council was approached by residents of the 
subdivision requesting that the restriction on parking on one side of the street be removed. 

II. PUBLIC HEARING 

A public hearing was held on the application before the Stayton City Council on November 19, 2018.  
Notice of the hearing was provided to the owners of all parcels within the Village Creek subdivision and 
the owners of all property within 300 feet of the subdivision.  At that hearing the City Council reviewed 
Land Use File #20-10/18 and it was made part of the record.  Following the close of the hearing the City 
Council deliberated, reopened the hearing and then deferred a decision to allow more information to be 
submitted and to consult with legal counsel.  With three new City Council members being seated on 
January 7, 2019, a second public hearing was held before the City Council on January 22, 2019.  Notice 
of the second hearing was provided to the owners of all parcels within the Village Creek subdivision and 
the owners of all property within 300 feet of the subdivision.   

III. FINDINGS OF FACT 

The Stayton City Council, after careful consideration of the testimony and evidence in the record adopts 
the following findings of fact: 

1. The Village Creek Subdivision was approved and platted in 2001.  The subdivision contains 68 
lots. 

2. The streets in the subdivision have 50-foot wide rights of way. 

3. The streets in the subdivision were constructed with a 28-foot wide improvement, sloped curbs 
and 5-foot wide curbside sidewalks. 

4. The streets were constructed when the developer intended to create a mobile home park. 

5. The streets were constructed prior to approval to create a subdivision. 

6. The City Council, in Land Use File #03-02/01 approved the subdivision on May 7, 2001, with 
conditions.  The Council findings from 2001 included the following: 

FINDING: 17.24.1040.7.b. identifies that minor streets (residential) call for a minimum 
right-of-way width of (60) sixty feet and a curb to curb width of (34) thirty four feet.  The 
applicant’s subdivision consists of (50) fifty feet of right-of-way with a (28) twenty eight foot 
improved road surface.  Because the street pavement has already been laid a determination 
has to be made to either find that the streets are of adequate right-of-way and improved 
surface width or require additional right-of-way and improved surface width.  Another 



 

City Council Order, Land Use File #20-10/18 
Modification of Condition U, Village Creek Subdivision 

Page 2 of 4 

alternative would be to secure (5) five foot easements on each side of the street rights-of-way 
and allow the existing road surface width with no parking on one side. 

7. Condition of approval U from Land Use File #03-02/01 required that parking be allowed on only 
one side of the street.  In its entirety, Condition U read: 

U.  Install (5) five foot property line sidewalks along both sides with a (3) three foot parkway 
strip.  Parking permitted on one side only. 

8. In October 2001, the developer requested modification to two of the conditions of approval, 
including Condition U.  Following a public hearing, the City Council, in Land Use File #21-
10/01, approved a modification to Condition U to require curb line sidewalks instead of property 
line sidewalks.  As modified on November 15, 2001, Condition U read, “Install curb line 
sidewalks along both sides of the street.  Parking permitted on one side of the street only.” 

9. No Parking signs are currently posted on one side of Grier Dr and Hobson St. 

B. PROPOSAL 

1. On September 17, 2018 the issue of parking restrictions was brought to the attention of the City 
Council by a resident of the subdivision.  The City Council requested that staff prepare a report 
outlining the history of subdivision. 

2. On October 1, 2018 the staff report was provided to the City Council.  At that meeting, petitions 
seeking to remove the existing No Parking signs, signed by 41 individuals were submitted to the 
City Council. 

3. The City Council voted to hold a public hearing to consider possible modification to Condition 
U. 

C. AGENCY COMMENTS 

The following agencies were notified of the hearing:  City of Stayton Public Works, WAVE 
Broadband, Stayton Telephone Cooperative, Pacific Power & Light, NW Natural Gas, Stayton Fire 
District, Santiam Water Control District, Marion County Public Works, Marion County Planning 
Division, North Santiam School District, Republic Services, Santiam Hospital, and the Stayton 
Police Department. 

Comments were received from the Stayton Police Department, Stayton Fire District.  Republic 
Services replied that they are not impacted by the proposal. 

The Stayton Fire District noted that on streets with less than 34 feet of travel way parking on both 
sides severely hampers or eliminates their ability to provide fire suppression.  The District 
commented that narrow streets restrict or eliminate the required working space around apparatus that 
firefighters need to utilize the apparatus and equipment in safe and efficient manner.  With vehicles 
parked on both sides of a narrow street, the District commented that it is unable to deploy its ladder 
truck.  The Stayton Fire District recommended that parking be limited to one side of the street. 

The Stayton Police Department commented that in 2014 numerous traffic complaint issues regarding 
the Village Creek neighborhood were received.  These complaints resulted in posting of the existing 
signs, to comply with the 2001 condition of approval.  The Police Chief recommends retaining the 
restriction to allow parking on only one side of the street. 



 

City Council Order, Land Use File #20-10/18 
Modification of Condition U, Village Creek Subdivision 

Page 3 of 4 

D. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

The Planning Department received no public comments on this issue prior to the November hearing.  
No additional information was submitted by any interested party prior to the January hearing. 

E. APPROVAL CRITERIA 

Subdivision applications are required to satisfy approval criteria contained within Stayton Municipal 
Code (SMC) Chapter 17, Section 17.24.040.6, Preliminary Plan Approval Criteria and 17.24.050 
Design Standards for Subdivisions and Partitions.  Whereas this decision is in regards to the possible 
modification of a condition of approval previously imposed on the approval of a subdivision 
application only, the criteria relevant to Condition U are listed below.   

Pursuant to SMC 17.24.040.6 the following criteria must be demonstrated as being satisfied by the 
application: 

b. All streets shall be in a location and have a right of way and traveled way width in accordance 
with in the City’s Transportation Plan. 

Finding: All of the streets in Village Creek subdivision are designated as local streets.  All four 
streets have a right of way width of 50 feet, with the exception of a portion of Weldon St, which 
a right of way of variable width where the right of way extends to Lucas Ditch.  All four streets 
were constructed with a 28-foot improvement with sloped curbs and curb line sidewalks, except 
the south side of Weldon St where no sidewalk was installed. 

The City design standards for a residential local street call for a 34-foot improvement located 
within a 60-foot right of way.  Standard design for a residential local street calls for 5-foot 
property line sidewalks with a 7.5-foot landscape strip between curb and sidewalk. 

c. The design standards of Section 17.24.050 below are satisfied as well as the access management 
standards in Section 17.26.020. 

Findings:  See the Findings below regarding Section 17.24.050. 

Section 17.24.050 Design Standards for Partition Preliminary Plans.  Pursuant to SMC 17.24.050 
the following criteria and objectives must be demonstrated as being satisfied by the application for 
preliminary plan approval of a partitioning: 

1. STREETS. 

a. Streets shall be in alignment with existing streets in the vicinity of the proposed subdivision, 
either by prolongation of existing centerlines or by connection with suitable curves. Streets 
shall conform to the location, alignment, and width as indicated on the official map of streets 
known as the Future Street Plan in the adopted Stayton Transportation System Plan.) 

e. Concrete curbs and concrete sidewalks shall be installed on all streets.  The location and 
width of sidewalks shall be determined by the decision authority.  In making such 
determination, the decision authority shall take into consideration the topography of the 
land, the presence of improvements, trees or other plantings, the type of street, and the 
location of sidewalks, if any, in adjacent areas or subdivision. 

In residential neighborhoods, sidewalks shall be placed along the property line whenever 
possible. In all cases, sidewalks shall be placed 1 foot from the property line on arterial and 
collector streets. 



 

City Council Order, Land Use File #20-10/18 
Modification of Condition U, Village Creek Subdivision 

Page 4 of 4 

Finding: All of the streets in Village Creek subdivision are designated as local streets.  All four 
streets have a right of way width of 50 feet, with the exception of a portion of Weldon St, which 
a right of way of variable width where the right of way extends to Lucas Ditch.  All four streets 
were constructed with a 28-foot improvement with sloped curbs and curb line sidewalks, except 
the south side of Weldon St where no sidewalk was installed. 

The City design standards for a residential local street call for a 34-foot improvement located 
within a 60-foot right of way.  Standard design for a residential local street calls for 5-foot 
property line sidewalks with a 7.5-foot landscape strip between curb and sidewalk. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

Based on the findings of fact above, the City Council concludes that Condition U as modified in Land 
Use File #21-10/01 remains justified in order to provide adequate space for public safety vehicles. 

V. ORDER 

The City Council orders that Condition U from Land Use File #21-10/01 shall remain unmodified.  The 
Public Works Department shall post No Parking signs on one side of Weldon St and Whitney St. 

VI. APPEAL DATES 

The City Council’s decision may be appealed to the Land Use Board of Appeals within 21 days in 
accordance with ORS 197.830. 

. 
 

 _____________________________ _________________ 
 Henry A Porter, Mayor Date 

 
 

_____________________________________ _________________ 
 Keith D Campbell,  Date 
 City Manager 

 
 
 



1 
 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 

 FROM: Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 

 DATE: January 7, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Annexation and Comprehensive Plan Map Amendment 
Applications, Hillyer Ford, Golf Lane 

  
 
ISSUE 

The issue before the City Council is the second consider Ordinance 1028 that would 
approximately 8 acres of land on Golf Lane, as well as a portion of the Golf Lane right of way 
and Cascade Highway right of way, to change the comprehensive plan designation of the 
property from Residential to Commercial, and to assign Commercial General zoning to the 
property. 

The City Council held a public hearing on the applications at its January 2 meeting.  Following 
the closure of the public hearing, the Council deliberated and passed the first consideration of 
the Ordinance.  The vote to approve the ordinance was four in favor with one opposed.  The 
City Charter requires that if the vote on the first consideration is not unanimous, the ordinance 
be presented for a second consideration. 

The Ordinance has been modified only to reflect a new date of enactment. 

RECOMMENDATION 

The staff recommends approval of the draft ordinance that is included in the packet. 

OPTIONS AND MOTIONS 

The City Council is presented with the following options. 

1. Approve second consideration of Ordinance 1028 as presented 

Move to approve the applications of Leo Hillyer (Land Use File #19-09/18) for annexation 
and comprehensive plan amendment and assign Commercial General Zoning to the 
property by enacting Ordinance No 1028 as presented. 

The City Recorder shall call the roll and the names of each Councilor present and their vote 
shall be recorded in the meeting minutes.  If Ordinance No. 1028 is approved, it will be 
presented to the Mayor for his approval. 



2 
 

2. Approve second consideration of Ordinance 1028 with modifications 

Move to approve the applications of Leo Hillyer (Land Use File #19-09/18) for annexation 
and comprehensive plan amendment and assign Commercial General Zoning to the 
property by enacting Ordinance No 1028 with the following changes … and direct staff to 
incorporate these changes into the Ordinance before the Ordinance is presented to the City 
Council for a third consideration. 

The City Recorder shall call the roll and the names of each Councilor present and their vote 
shall be recorded in the meeting minutes.  If the second consideration is approved, 
Ordinance No. 1028 will be brought before the Council for a second consideration at its 
February 4, 2019 meeting. 

 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1028 (Land Use File #19-09/18) Page 1 of 3 
Annexation, Comprehensive Plan Map & Zoning Map Amendment – Hillyer Ford Property 

ORDINANCE NO. 1028 
 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING INTO THE CITY OF STAYTON CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 
LOCATED ON GOLF LANE AND PORTIONS OF THE RIGHTS OF WAY OF GOLF LANE AND 
CASCADE HIGHWAY; AMENDING THE CITY OF STAYTON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP 
FROM RESIDENTIAL TO COMMERCIAL; AND AMENDING THE CITY OF STAYTON ZONING 
MAP FROM MARION COUNTY URBAN TRANSITIONAL (UT) TO CITY OF STAYTON 
COMMERCIAL GENERAL, LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL, PUBLIC/SEMI-PUBLIC, AND 
NATURAL RESOURCES OVERLAY. 

 WHEREAS, on August 3, 2018, pursuant to ORS 222.125 and Stayton Municipal Code (SMC) 
Section 17.12.210, Leo Hillyer submitted concurrent applications for annexation of an eight-acre parcel of 
land located on Golf Lane, for a comprehensive plan amendment to change the comprehensive plan 
designation of that property from Residential to Commercial, and for an Official Zoning Map amendment 
to assign Commercial General zoning to the property upon annexation; 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on the applications before the Stayton Planning 
Commission on October 29, 2018 and continued until November 26, 2018; 

 WHEREAS, following the public hearing, the Stayton Planning Commission recommended that 
the annexation be approved; that the territory to be annexed also include the full width of the right of way 
of Golf Lane between the west boundary of the property and Cascade Highway and that portion of the 
Cascade Highway right of way between Mill Creek and Golf Lane; that the comprehensive plan map be 
amended from Residential to Commercial for the property; and that Commercial General zoning be 
applied to the property; 

 WHEREAS, the territory to be annexed is contiguous to the City Limits on the west side; 

 WHEREAS, the property is currently zoned Urban Transition (UT-20), and the applicant has 
requested that the property be zoned Commercial General in accordance with the concurrent amendment 
of the Stayton Comprehensive Plan Map; 

WHEREAS, the City of Stayton City Council held a public hearing as required by law on January 
7, 2019;  

WHEREAS, notice of the City Council public hearing was published for two successive weeks 
prior to the hearing in the Stayton Mail; 

WHEREAS, the City of Stayton City Council makes findings of fact regarding the applications as 
contained in Exhibit 3 attached hereto and incorporated herein;  

WHEREAS ORS 222.127 requires the City Council to finalize the annexation and not forward the 
application to the voters of the City as required by City Charter and SMC Section 17.12.210.2.a.2); and 

WHEREAS, the City of Stayton City Council concludes, based on the findings of fact contained in 
Exhibit 3 that the applications meet the criteria for approval in SMC Section 17.12.210.4 for annexations, 
Section 17.12.170.6 for comprehensive plan amendments, and Section 17.12.180.6 for Official Zone Map 
amendments; 

NOW THEREFORE, the City of Stayton ordains: 

Section 1.  The City of Stayton City Council makes findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding the 
applications as contained in Exhibit 3 attached hereto and incorporated herein. 

Section 2.  Pursuant to ORS 222.125, the Stayton City Council hereby proclaims the annexation to the 
City of Stayton, Oregon, of territory on Golf Lane, including a portion of the rights of way for Golf Lane 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1028 (Land Use File #19-09/18) Page 2 of 3 
Annexation, Comprehensive Plan Map & Zoning Map Amendment – Hillyer Ford Property 

and Cascade Highway, the legal description of which is described in Exhibit 1 and is shown in Exhibit 2, 
which are attached hereto and by reference incorporated herein. 

Section 3.  Pursuant to ORS 222.005 the Stayton City Recorder shall provide by certified mail to all 
public utilities, telecommunication facilities, and franchise holders operating within the City a written 
notice of each site address to be annexed as recorded on the Marion County assessment and tax roles, a 
legal description and map of the proposed boundary change, and a copy of this ordinance.  This notice 
shall be mailed within (10) ten working days of the enactment of this Ordinance. 

Section 4.  Pursuant to ORS 222.010 the Stayton City Recorder shall, within ten (10) days of the 
enactment of this Ordinance, send to the Marion County Clerk and Marion County Assessor a report of 
the annexation including a detailed legal description of the new boundaries established by the City. 

Section 5.  Pursuant to ORS 308.225(2) the Stayton City Recorder shall provide to the Oregon 
Department of Revenue a copy of this Ordinance, containing the legal description and map of the territory 
being annexed. 

Section 6.  Pursuant to ORS 222.177 the Stayton City Recorder shall provide to the Oregon Secretary of 
State a copy of this Ordinance, containing the legal descriptions and maps of the territories being annexed, 
and a copy of documents indicating consent of the property owners. 

Section 7.  The Stayton Comprehensive Plan Map is hereby amended as follows: 

Area to be Changed from Residential to Commercial 

Beginning at a point on the north line of the right of way of Golf Lane on the extension of 
the west line of Tax Lot 091W03B 01400, proceeding southeasterly along the north line of 
the right of way of Golf Lane to the northerly corner of Tax Lot 091W03B 01501; thence 
southerly to the centerline of Golf Lane; thence southeasterly along the centerline of Golf 
Lane to a point on the extension of the south line Tax Lot 091W03B; then continuing 
westerly along the south line of Tax Lot 091W03B 01400 to the southwesterly corner of 
Tax Lot 091W03B 01400; then northerly along the west line of Tax Lot 091W03B 01400 
to the point of beginning. 

Section 8.  The Stayton Official Zoning Map is hereby amended as follows: 

Newly Annexed Area to be Zoned Commercial General 

Beginning at a point on the north line of the right of way of Golf Lane opposite the west 
line of Tax Lot 091W03B 01400, proceeding southeasterly along the north line of the right 
of way of Golf Lane to the northerly corner of Tax Lot 091W03B 01501; thence southerly 
to the centerline of Golf Lane; thence southeasterly along the centerline of Golf Lane to a 
point on the extension of the south line Tax Lot 091W03B 01400; thence continuing 
westerly along the south line of Tax Lot 091W03B 01400 to the southwesterly corner of 
Tax Lot 091W03B 01400; then northerly along the west line of Tax Lot 091W03B 01400 
to the point of beginning. 

Newly Annexed Area to be Zoned Low Density Residential 

Beginning at a point on the centerline of Golf Lane opposite the south line of Tax Lot 
091W03B 01400, proceeding south easterly along the centerline of Golf Lane to a point on 
the extension of the south line of Tax Lot 091W03B 01501; thence easterly to the 
southwest corner of Tax Lot 091W03B 01501; thence southeasterly along the northeast 
right of way line of Golf Lane to the centerline of Cascade Highway; thence southerly 
along the centerline of Cascade Highway to the thread of Mill Creek; thence westerly 



 

 

Ordinance No. 1028 (Land Use File #19-09/18) Page 3 of 3 
Annexation, Comprehensive Plan Map & Zoning Map Amendment – Hillyer Ford Property 

along the thread of Mill Creek to the west right of way line of Cascade Highway; thence 
northerly along the west right of way line of Cascade Highway to the south right of way 
line of Golf Lane; thence westerly and northwesterly along the right of way line of Golf 
Lane to the south line of Tax Lot 091W03B 01400; thence easterly to the point of 
beginning. 

Newly Annexed Areas to be Placed within Public/Semi-Public Zone 

Beginning at the northerly corner of Tax Lot 091W03B 01501; thence southerly to the 
centerline of Golf Lane; thence southeasterly along the centerline of Golf Lane to a point 
on the extension of the south line Tax Lot 091W03B 01501; thence easterly to the 
southwest corner of Tax Lot 091W03B 01501; thence northwesterly along the northeast 
right of way of Golf Lane to the point of beginning.  Also, 

Also, beginning at a point on the centerline of Cascade Highway at the thread of Mill 
Creek, proceeding northerly along the centerline of Cascade Highway to a point opposite 
from the north right of way of Golf Lane; thence easterly to the east right of way of 
Cascade Highway; thence southerly along the east right of way of Cascade Highway to the 
thread of Mill Creek; thence westerly along the thread of Mill Creek to the point of 
beginning. 

 Newly Annexed Area to be Placed within the Natural Resources Overlay District 

Those portions of the newly annexed territory that are within 100 feet of Mill Creek. 

A portion of the revised Official Zoning Map, illustrating the amendments to the Official Zoning 
Map is included as Exhibit 4, attached hereto and incorporated herein. 

Section 9.  The land use actions taken in this ordinance are conditioned upon any development to be 
constructed or otherwise developed on the subject property generating not more than 1,000 vehicle trips 
per day.  Any application for development on the subject properties shall submit with the development 
application a Transportation Impact Analysis or a Transportation Assessment Letter as provided for in the 
SMC that verifies the proposed development will conform to the trip cap limitations stated herein. 

Section 10.  Upon adoption by the Stayton City Council and the Mayor’s signing, this Ordinance shall 
become effective 30 days after the date of signing. 

Section 11.  A copy of this Ordinance shall be furnished to the State of Oregon, Department of Land 
Conservation and Development forthwith. 
 
ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL this 22nd day of January, 2019. 
 

 CITY OF STAYTON 

 

Signed: ____________, 2019 BY: _______________________________ 
 Henry A Porter, Mayor 

 

Signed: ____________, 2019 ATTEST: _______________________________ 
 Keith D. Campbell, City Manager 



 
 

 

Ordinance No. 1028 (Land Use File #9-19/18) Page 1 of 2 
Exhibit 1 – Legal Description of Territory to be Annexed 

EXHIBIT 1, Annexation Area 
 
 

 
 
 



 
 

 

Ordinance No. 1028 (Land Use File #9-19/18) Page 2 of 2 
Exhibit 1 – Legal Description of Territory to be Annexed 



 
 

 

Ordinance No. 1014 (Land Use File #19-09/18) Page 1 of 2 
Exhibit 2 – Map of Territory to be Annexed 

EXHIBIT 2, Map of Annexation Area 
 

 

 



 
 

 

Ordinance No. 1014 (Land Use File #19-09/18) Page 2 of 2 
Exhibit 2 – Map of Territory to be Annexed 



 
 

 

Ordinance No. 1028 (Land Use File #9-19/18) Page 1 of 9 
Exhibit 3, Findings of Fact 

EXHIBIT 3, CITY COUNCIL FINDINGS OF FACT 

LAND USE FILE #7-08/17 

A. GENERAL FACTS 

1. The owners of the property are William L McClain and Pamela K McClain, Trustees and the 
McClain Living Trust.  The Applicant is Leo Hillyer who is has a contract to purchase the 
property. 

2. The property can be described as tax lot 1400 on Map 91W03B. 

3. The property is located on the southwest side of Golf Lane and is not assigned an address. 

4. The property is approximately 8 acres in area.  The property is triangular in shape, approximately 
1,145 feet of frontage on Golf Lane 

5. The neighboring property to the west is inside the City Limits, is zoned Public/Semi-Public (P) 
and is an undeveloped portion of the Stayton Middle School campus.  The neighboring property to 
the south is located outside of the City Limits, is zoned Marion County Urban Transition, and is a 
vacant lot. The property to the northeast, across Golf Lane and across State Highway 22, is located 
in the City of Sublimity, is zoned Industrial, and is developed as an automobile dealership. 

6. Though the property is within the Stayton Urban Growth Boundary, it is located within the 
boundaries of the Sublimity Fire District. 

7. The property is currently vacant. 

8. The proposal is to annex approximately 8 acres of land into the City.  The applicant has also 
applied for a Comprehensive Plan Map amendment from Residential to Commercial and has 
proposed that Commercial General zoning be applied to the property at the time of annexation.  
The applicant also proposes to develop the parcel into an automobile dealership with two 
buildings: a sales and service building of 25,000 square feet, and a truck sales and service building 
of 6,000 square feet. 

9. The Stayton Planning Commission held a public hearing on October 29 and November 26 on the 
three concurrent applications for annexation, comprehensive plan map amendment, and site plan 
review.  The Planning Commission is the decision authority on the application for site plan 
review, but plays an advisory role to the City Council on the applications for annexation and 
comprehensive plan map amendment. 

10. Following their public hearing, the Planning Commission adopted an order that recommended to 
the City Council annexation of the property, along with annexation of a portion of the Golf Lane 
right of way and a portion of the Cascade Highway right of way; recommended to the City 
Council the comprehensive plan map amendment for the property; and approved the application 
for site plan approval contingent upon the successful conclusion of the annexation and 
comprehensive plan map amendment.  The Planning Commission’s order included twelve 
conditions, most of which related to the site plan approval, but one of which related to the 
comprehensive plan map amendment. 

11. This proposal must comply with the Transportation Planning Rule (TPR), which implements 
Statewide Planning Goal 12 when considering amendments to acknowledged comprehensive plans 
and land use regulations.  The process for analysis of the TPR is a two-step process for evaluating 
a proposal’s impacts on the transportation system.  First, the trip generation potential of a site is 



 
 

 

Ordinance No. 1028 (Land Use File #9-19/18) Page 2 of 9 
Exhibit 3, Findings of Fact 

assessed assuming a “reasonable worst-case” development scenario under the existing and 
proposed zoning.  If the proposed zoning has the potential to increase the number of trips, an 
analysis of long-term transportation impacts can be studied to assess whether the rezone will 
significantly affect the transportation system. Conversely, if the trip generation under the proposed 
zoning is equal to or less than that under the existing zoning, no additional operational analysis is 
necessary to conclude that the proposal does not significantly affect the transportation system. 

12. The test for significant effect involves an analysis of land uses representing “reasonable worse-
case” development scenarios. These “reasonable worst-case” scenarios are independent of current 
or planned site uses.  Per SMC 17.16.060, housing in LD zones may not to exceed 6 dwelling 
units per acre. For this analysis the parcel is assumed to be zoned LD when annexed.  To assess a 
reasonable worst case for the existing zoning, the applicant’s consultant assumed that the parcel 
could be built out according to the zoning designation.  Per SMC 17.16.060, the CG zone allows a 
variety of commercial uses.  Based on the designation, it was assumed that trips from the site 
would be capped at no more than 1,000 trips per day, which would not allow, for example, a 3,000 
square foot fast food restaurant. 

13. Per OAR 660-012-0060, if a comprehensive plan or zone change amendment is found to 
significantly affect an existing or planned transportation facility, then the local government must 
put in place measures which mitigate the significant effect. One potential remedy is a “trip cap” 
designed to limit the vehicle trips associated with future development of the property.  To mitigate 
the potential for possible significant effect, the City of Stayton may impose a “trip cap” to restrict 
future development on the subject properties to a level allowed under the existing zoning. 

14. The City’s transportation engineers concurred with the applicant’s consultant’s determination that 
if a “trip cap” was applied, the application would be in compliance with the TPR.  The necessary 
“trip cap” as proposed by the transportation engineers would be a limit of traffic to be generated 
from the subject property of 1,000 daily trips. 

15. The applicant intends to develop the parcel into an automobile dealership.  A trip generation 
analysis was performed based on this proposed land use and was submitted with the concurrent 
application site plan approval, reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission.  Based on the 
proposed size of the automobile dealership, the projected traffic generated was under the trip cap 
of 1,000 daily trips.  With a “trip cap” in place, no additional further transportation analysis is 
necessary to support the zone change, as the “trip cap” would not trigger a significant effect on the 
transportation system. Additional traffic impact analysis will be required for any development 
application other than the proposed uses approved by the Planning Commission. 

B. AGENCY COMMENTS 

The following agencies were notified of the proposal:  Oregon Department of Land Conservation and 
Development, City of Stayton Public Works, Santiam Water Control District, Wave Broadband, 
Stayton Cooperative Telephone Company (SCTC), Pacific Power, Northwest Natural Gas, Stayton 
Fire District, Stayton Police Department, North Santiam School District, Marion County Public 
Works, and Marion County Planning Division. 

Comments were received from the Stayton Public Works Department through the City Engineer, from 
the City’s transportation engineering consultant, from Marion County Public Works and from 
Sublimity Fire District.  These comments are incorporated into the findings below. 



 
 

 

Ordinance No. 1028 (Land Use File #9-19/18) Page 3 of 9 
Exhibit 3, Findings of Fact 

C. PUBLIC COMMENTS  

The surrounding property owners were notified of the Planning Commission’s public hearing and the 
applications.  There was testimony at the Planning Commission’s public hearing from a number of 
neighbors. The testimony raised concerns about traffic, stormwater, and impacts of the private well on 
neighboring private water supplies.  This testimony is addressed in the findings below.  The 
surrounding property were also notified of the City Council’s public hearing and notice was published 
twice in the newspaper and posted on the City’s website. 

D. ANALYSIS 

Annexation applications are required to satisfy approval criteria contained within Stayton Municipal 
Code (SMC) Title 17, Section 17.12.210.  The amendment of the Official Zoning Map, required to 
assign a zone to the newly annexed territory, is required to satisfy the approval criteria contained 
within SMC Section 17.12.180. 

Comprehensive Plan Map amendment applications are required to satisfy approval criteria contained 
within SMC Section 17.12.170. 

E. APPROVAL CRITERIA 

Section 17.12.210.4 Annexation Approval Criteria.  Pursuant to SMC 17.12.210.4 the following 
criteria must be demonstrated as being satisfied by an application for Comprehensive Plan 
amendment: 

a. Need exists in the community for the land proposed to be annexed. 

Finding:  The 2013 Stayton Comprehensive Plan update included a Buildable Lands Inventory 
(BLI).  The 2013 BLI provides the following information on projected growth and need for 
additional land in the community.  At that time, there were 31 lots comprising 21 acres of vacant 
land inside the City limits in the Commercial Retail, Commercial General and Interchange 
Development Zones.  The Comprehensive Plan noted that three adjacent parcels accounted for 7 
acres, leaving 14 acres of land in 28 parcels and that there was a lack of medium-sized vacant 
parcels available for commercial uses. 

b. The site is or is capable of being serviced by adequate City public services, including such 
services as may be provided subject to the terms of a contract annexation agreement between the 
applicant and the City. 

Finding:  There are no City public services immediately adjacent to the parcel proposed for 
annexation.  There is a 12-inch sewer main in Golf Lane, approximately 1,300 feet northwest of 
the subject property. The applicant intends to extend the sewer main to provide service to the 
property.  There is no public water service available to the property.  The applicant intends to 
utilize an on-site well for water.  The Public Works Department has commented that oversizing of 
the sewer main may be required to serve future development along Golf Lane. 

c. The proposed annexation is property contiguous to existing City jurisdictional limits. 

Finding:  The property is immediately to the east of the Stayton Middle School property that was 
annexed in 2014. 

d. The proposed annexation is compatible with the character of the surrounding area and complies 
with the urban growth program and the policies of the City of Stayton. 



 
 

 

Ordinance No. 1028 (Land Use File #9-19/18) Page 4 of 9 
Exhibit 3, Findings of Fact 

Finding: The surrounding area is undeveloped properties.  The portion of the Stayton Middle 
School Campus adjacent to the subject parcel is a forested property used for cross-country races.  
The properties to the northeast, across Highway 22, are developed as car dealership.  The property 
to the south is undeveloped.  The Urban Growth Management policies of the City are incorporated 
into Section 17.08.030.  These policies state that the boundaries of the City should remain 
relatively unchanged until a major portion of the City’s usable land has been developed for urban 
purposes. 

e. The annexation request complies or can be made to comply with all applicable provisions of state 
and local law. 

Finding:  The property owners have consented to the annexation.  ORS 222.127 requires a city to 
annex the territory without submitting the proposal to the electors if the territory is within the 
urban growth boundary, the territory will be subject to an acknowledged comprehensive plan, the 
territory is contiguous to the city limits, and the proposal conforms to all other requirements of the 
city’s ordinances. 

f. If a proposed contract annexation, the terms and conditions, including the cost of City facility and 
service extensions to the annexed area shall be calculated by the Public Works Director. 

Finding: The proposed annexation is not a contract annexation. 

Section 17.12.170.6 Comprehensive Plan Amendment Approval Criteria.  Pursuant to SMC 
17.12.170.6.b the following criteria must be demonstrated as being satisfied by the application for a 
Comprehensive Plan amendment: 

1) The amendment is consistent with the goals and policies of the Comprehensive Plan, including any 
relevant area plans, and the statewide planning goals.  In the case of a Comprehensive Plan Map 
amendment, the requested designation for the site shall be evaluated against relevant 
Comprehensive Plan policies and the decision authority shall find that the requested designation 
on balance is more supportive of the Comprehensive Plan as a whole than the old designation.  

Finding:  The Comprehensive Plan describes the purpose of the Commercial designation as 
proving areas for retail, service, office and other commercial activities.  The Plan indicates that the 
areas around the Highway 22 interchanges shall be oriented towards commercial uses that serve 
the traveling public.  However, no other direction is provided in the Plan as to the location of 
commercial areas. 

The City purchased the two parcels in the winter of 2016-17 for development as public facilities. 

2) The current Comprehensive Plan does not provide adequate areas in appropriate locations for 
uses allowed in the proposed land use designation and the addition of this property to the 
inventory of lands so designated is consistent with projected needs for such lands in the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

Finding:  The Comprehensive Plan notes that there were 23 vacant lots zoned commercial with a 
total area of 19 acres.  The Planning Department reports that there are currently 25 vacant 
commercially zoned parcels with a total area of 22 acres.  Two of these parcels have received site 
plan approval for development, but the building permits have not yet been issued.  The largest 
vacant commercially zoned lot is 4 acres.  There are no vacant commercially zoned parcels in the 
City suitably sized for the proposed use. 

3) Compliance is demonstrated with the statewide land use goals that apply to the subject properties 
or to the proposed land use designation. If the proposed designation on the subject property 



 
 

 

Ordinance No. 1028 (Land Use File #9-19/18) Page 5 of 9 
Exhibit 3, Findings of Fact 

requires an exception to the Goals, the applicable criteria in the LCDC Administrative Rules for 
the type of exception needed shall also apply. 

Finding:  The pertinent Statewide Land Use Goals are Goals 5, 7, 9, and 10.  Goal 5 is to protect 
natural resources and conserve scenic and historic areas and open spaces.  There are no “Goal 5 
Resources” identified in the Comprehensive Plan on or adjacent to the subject property.  Goal 7 is 
to protect people and property from natural hazards.  There are no natural hazards identified on or 
adjacent to the subject property.  Goal 9 is to provide adequate opportunities throughout the state 
for a variety of economic activities vital to the health, welfare, and prosperity of Oregon's citizens.  
Amendment of the Comprehensive Plan Map designation to Commercial would increase 
opportunity for economic activity in the City because there is a lack of suitably sized parcels 
designated Commercial.  Goal 10 is to provide for the housing needs of the citizens of the state.  
The proposed amendment would reduce the amount of land designated for residential use.  
However, the Comprehensive Plan indicates that there were 950 acres of land designated for 
residential growth in the urban growth area.  The Comprehensive Plan indicated that 
approximately 460 acres of land would be needed for residential growth during the planning 
period. This amendment would result in a decrease of less than 1% in the amount of available land 
for residential development, and still leave a surplus of almost 500 acres above what is projected 
to be needed during the planning period.  The Fair Housing Council of Oregon and Housing Land 
Advocates commented that the findings in the October draft of the Planning Commission order did 
not adequately address the impacts of the decrease in land designated for residential development.  
In response, this finding has been revised to specifically mention the amount of land designated 
for residential development in excess of the demand forecast in the Buildable Lands Inventory and 
Housing Needs Analysis.  The Council finds that, if approved, this amendment will not impact the 
availability of land for needed housing. 

4) Existing or anticipated transportation facilities are adequate for uses permitted under the 
proposed designation and the proposed amendment is in conformance with the Oregon 
Transportation Planning Rule (OAR 660-012-0060).  

Finding:  The applicant submitted an analysis of the potential impacts of the Comprehensive Plan 
Map amendment on the transportation system.  The analysis was prepared by Karl Birky, PE, 
PTOE.  The original analysis submitted with the application was based on two parcels, totaling 29 
acres, being annexed and having the comprehensive plan designation changed.  The application is 
for only one parcel of 8 acres.  The analysis indicates that the development proposed is for a 
16,000 square foot automobile sales dealership.  The accompanying site plan review application 
was for a 31,000 square foot dealership.  The analysis concluded that if a cap of 500 trips per day 
were imposed on the development of each commercial property, that the comprehensive plan map 
amendment and zoning amendment would not have an adverse impact on transportation facilities.  
The analysis projected a 16,000 square foot facility would generate 445 trips per day.  However 
the size of the combined car and truck dealerships proposed is 31,000 square feet.  A revised 
analysis was submitted with the proper size of the facility, but did not include an estimate of daily 
trip generation. 

A revised Transportation Planning Rule analysis letter was submitted on November 5 for 
consideration by the Planning Commission.  The letter assumed the dealership will have a total of 
26,800 square feet of floor area and projects daily traffic at 746 trips with a PM peak hour of 65 
trips.  The letter concluded that if a trip cap of 1,000 trips per day from development of the parcel 
was imposed, then the Comprehensive Plan Map amendment would not have a significant impact 
on the transportation system.  The City’s transportation planning consultant commented that the 



 
 

 

Ordinance No. 1028 (Land Use File #9-19/18) Page 6 of 9 
Exhibit 3, Findings of Fact 

1999 Oregon Highway Plan (OHP) provides guidance on evaluating the impacts of land uses 
changes pursuant to the Transportation Planning Rule.  The OHP indicates that the threshold for a 
small increase in traffic between the existing plan and the proposed amendment is defined in terms 
of the increase in total average daily trip volumes is 400 trips per day.  The City’s consultant 
points out that a proposed trip cap of 1,000 trips per day would not be considered a small increase 
and would therefore significantly affect the transportation system unless the applicant provided 
further analysis. 

The Planning Commission’s order recommended to the City Council that the Comprehensive Plan 
Map amendment be approved.  However, as a condition of this recommendation, the Planning 
Commission required that a revised analysis of the impact of the proposed amendments, prepared 
in accordance with the Transportation Planning Rule and the Oregon Highway Plan be submitted 
that provides sufficient evidence to conclude that the proposed amendments will not significantly 
affect the surrounding transportation network. A third TPR analysis letter was submitted on 
November 28.  The third version of the analysis letter includes a 20-year planning horizon to 
assess the impacts of the proposed plan map amendment on the transportation system.  The 
analysis letter concludes that if a cap of no more than 1,000 trips per day is imposed on the 
development of the property, then the comprehensive plan map amendment would not have a 
significant impact on the transportation system in the planning horizon year of 2040.  The City’s 
transportation planning consultant concurred with the methodology and conclusions included in 
the analysis letter. 

5) The current Comprehensive Plan Map provides more than the projected need for lands in the 
existing land use designation. 

Finding:  There are 1,867 acres of land in the UGB designated as Residential.  The 
Comprehensive Plan indicates that there are 921 buildable acres of land inside the UGB, and 
outside of the City Limits.  Since that time, there have been about 54 acres of residential land 
annexed, including the current application for annexation.  The Plan also indicates that the City 
will need approximately 460 acres of land for residential development over the course of the 
planning period, and that there was 144 acres of buildable land in the city zoned for residential 
use. The Comprehensive Plan indicates that there was 950 acres of land designated for residential 
growth in the urban growth area.  This amendment would result in a decrease of less than 1% in 
the amount of available land for residential development, and still leave a surplus of almost 500 
acres above what is projected to be need during the planning period. 

6) Public facilities and services necessary to support uses allowed in the proposed designation are 
available or are likely to be available in the near future. 

Finding:  The application indicates that the proposed development will be served by public sewer 
and by a private well.  Public sewer lines are located approximately 1,300 feet to the northwest.  
The nearest public water main is located in Cascade Highway at the intersection of Whitney St, 
approximately 2,400 feet away.  The applicant does not plan to extend public water to the 
property.  The City’s Water Master Plan shows a future 12” water main in Golf Lane.  The City 
does not have plans for the construction of this water main at this time.  The Public Works 
Department, through the review comments of the City Engineer, has suggested that an agreement 
be executed committing the applicant to connect to City Water when it is available.  The Planning 
Commission’s conditions of approval on the site plan require the applicant to execute an 
agreement with the City that the well will be abandoned and the property connected to public 
water service when a water main is extended to within 500 feet of the property. 



 
 

 

Ordinance No. 1028 (Land Use File #9-19/18) Page 7 of 9 
Exhibit 3, Findings of Fact 

7) Uses allowed in the proposed designation will not significantly adversely affect existing or 
planned uses on adjacent lands. 

Finding:  The property to the west is an undeveloped portion of the campus for the Stayton 
Intermediate/Middle School.  The School District does not have plans for any uses on this portion 
of the campus.  The northeast right of way of Golf Lane is adjacent to the right of way of Highway 
22.  The land adjacent to Highway 22, on the northeast of the highway, is developed for 
commercial uses.  To the east, across Golf Lane, the land is owned by the Oregon Department of 
Transportation.  To the south, the land is common ownership with the adjacent parcel and is 
designated Residential in the Comprehensive Plan.  There was testimony at the public hearing 
from neighboring property owners expressing concern over the impact of the proposed private 
well on the water table and their drinking water wells.  The Planning Commission’s conditions of 
approval on the site plan require the applicant to conduct a groundwater assessment prior to 
submittal of an application for site development that demonstrates that the proposed private well 
will not reduce the groundwater levels at the property lines of the subject property. 

Section 17.12.180.6 Official Zoning Map Amendment Approval Criteria.  Pursuant to SMC 
17.12.180.6.b the following criteria must be demonstrated as being satisfied by the application for 
Zoning Map amendment: 

1) The proposed zone is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan map designation for the subject 
property unless a Comprehensive Plan Map amendment has also been applied for and is 
otherwise compatible with applicable provisions of the Comprehensive Plan. 

Finding:  A concurrent application for a Comprehensive Plan Map amendment has been filed.   

2) Existing or anticipated services (water, sanitary sewers, storm sewers, schools, police and fire 
protection) can accommodate potential development in the subject area without adverse impact on 
the affected service area.  

Finding:  The application indicates that the proposed development will be served by public sewer 
and by a private well.  Public sewer lines are located approximately 1,300 feet to the northwest.  
The nearest public water main is located in Cascade Highway at the intersection of Whitney St, 
approximately 2,400 feet away.  The applicant does not plan to extend public water to the 
property.  The City’s Water Master Plan shows a future 12-inch water main in Golf Lane.  The 
City does not have plans for the construction of this water main at this time.  The Public Works 
Department, through the review comments of the City Engineer, has suggested that an agreement 
be executed committing the applicant to connect to City Water when it is available.  The Sublimity 
Fire District expressed no concerns.  The North Santiam School District and the Stayton Police 
Department were notified of the application.  No comments were received from the School 
District or Police Department. 

3) Existing or anticipated transportation facilities are adequate for uses permitted under the 
proposed zone designation and the proposed amendment is in conformance with the Oregon 
Transportation Planning Rule (OAR 660-012-0060).  

Finding:  The applicant submitted an analysis of the potential impacts of the Comprehensive Plan 
Map amendment on the transportation system.  The analysis was prepared by Karl Birky, PE, 
PTOE.  The original analysis submitted with the application was based on two parcels, totaling 29 
acres, being annexed and having the comprehensive plan designation changed.  The application is 
for only one parcel of 8 acres.  The analysis indicates that the development proposed is for a 
16,000 square foot automobile sales dealership.  The accompanying site plan review application 



 
 

 

Ordinance No. 1028 (Land Use File #9-19/18) Page 8 of 9 
Exhibit 3, Findings of Fact 

was for a 31,000 square foot dealership.  The analysis concluded that if a cap of 500 trips per day 
were imposed on the development of each commercial property, that the comprehensive plan map 
amendment and zoning amendment would not have an adverse impact on transportation facilities.  
The analysis projected a 16,000 square foot facility would generate 445 trips per day.  However 
the size of the combined car and truck dealerships proposed is 31,000 square feet.  A revised 
analysis was submitted with the proper size of the facility, but did not include an estimate of daily 
trip generation. 

A revised Transportation Planning Rule analysis letter was submitted on November 5 for 
consideration by the Planning Commission.  The letter assumed the dealership will have a total of 
26,800 square feet of floor area and projects daily traffic at 746 trips with a PM peak hour of 65 
trips.  The letter concluded that if a trip cap of 1,000 trips per day from development of the parcel 
was imposed, then the Comprehensive Plan Map amendment would not have a significant impact 
on the transportation system.  The City’s transportation planning consultant commented that the 
1999 Oregon Highway Plan (OHP) provides guidance on evaluating the impacts of land uses 
changes pursuant to the Transportation Planning Rule.  The OHP indicates that the threshold for a 
small increase in traffic between the existing plan and the proposed amendment is defined in terms 
of the increase in total average daily trip volumes is 400 trips per day.  The City’s consultant 
points out that a proposed trip cap of 1,000 trips per day would not be considered a small increase 
and would therefore significantly affect the transportation system unless the applicant provided 
further analysis. 

The Planning Commission’s order recommended to the City Council that the Comprehensive Plan 
Map amendment be approved.  However, as a condition of this recommendation, the Planning 
Commission required that a revised analysis of the impact of the proposed amendments, prepared 
in accordance with the Transportation Planning Rule and the Oregon Highway Plan be submitted 
that provides sufficient evidence to conclude that the proposed amendments will not significantly 
affect the surrounding transportation network. A third TPR analysis letter was submitted on 
November 28.  The third version of the analysis letter includes a 20-year planning horizon to 
assess the impacts of the proposed plan map amendment on the transportation system.  The 
analysis letter concludes that if cap of no more than 1,000 trips per day is imposed on the 
development of the property, then the comprehensive plan map amendment would not have a 
significant impact on the transportation system in the planning horizon year of 2040.  The City’s 
transportation planning consultant concurred with the methodology and conclusions included in 
the analysis letter. 

4) The purpose of the proposed zoning district satisfies the goals and policies of the Comprehensive 
Plan.  

Finding:  Policy LU-4 calls for the City to adopt development regulations that provide for a 
variety of commercial zones, including a zone for general business activity.  Policy LU-6 calls for 
the central business area of Stayton to continue to be the primary retail business area of the 
community and that the City should discourage strip-type development. 

5) Balance is maintained in the supply of vacant land in the zones affected by the zone change to 
meet the demand for projected development in the Comprehensive Plan.  Vacant land in the 
proposed zone is not adequate in size, configuration or other characteristics to support the 
proposed use or development.  A Zone Map Amendment shall not eliminate all available vacant 
land from any zoning designation. 



 
 

 

Ordinance No. 1028 (Land Use File #9-19/18) Page 9 of 9 
Exhibit 3, Findings of Fact 

Finding:  The Planning Department reports that there are currently 11 vacant parcels zoned 
Commercial General with a total area of 6.2 acres.  One of these parcels has received site plan 
review approval for development, but a building permit has not yet been issued.  The largest 
vacant parcel zoned CG is 1.1 acres in size.  The proposed amendment would not eliminate any 
vacant land zoned residential, because the subject property is not currently in the City. 

6) The proposed zone amendment satisfies applicable provisions of Oregon Administrative Rules. 

Finding:  Notice of the proposed amendment was provided to the Department of Land 
Conservation and Development on September 20, more than 35 days prior to the Planning 
Commission’s first hearing. 

7) The physical characteristics of the property proposed for rezoning are appropriate for the 
proposed zone and the potential uses allowed by the proposed zone will not have an adverse 
impact on the surrounding land uses.   

Finding:  The property is gently sloping and would allow for a wide variety of development 
opportunities.  The applicant has submitted a concurrent application for site plan review approval.  
The site is located in such a manner to provide high visibility from Highway 22. 

The property to the west is an undeveloped portion of the campus for the Stayton 
Intermediate/Middle School.  The School District does not have plans for any uses on this portion 
of the campus.  The northeast right of way of Golf Lane is adjacent to the right of way of Highway 
22.  The land adjacent to Highway 22, on the northeast of the highway, is developed for 
commercial uses.  To the east, across Golf Lane, the land is owned by the Oregon Department of 
Transportation.  To the south, the land is in common ownership with the adjacent parcel and is 
designated Residential in the Comprehensive Plan. 



 
 

 

Ordinance No. 1028 (Land Use File #9-19/18) Page 1 of 1 
Exhibit 4, Portion of Zoning Map 

EXHIBIT 4, EXCERPT FROM OFFICIAL ZONING MAP 

 



 
Community Trail System  Page 1 of 3  
January 22, 2019 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
TO: Mayor Hank Porter and City Council 
 
FROM: Keith Campbell, City Manager 

Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 
Rich Sebens, Police Chief 

 
DATE: January 22, 2019 
 
SUBJECT: Stayton Community Trail System, Informational 
  
     

The purpose of this Staff Report is to familiarize the City Council with the City’s trail system and 
the efforts that have been made to plan for and construct a network of non-motorized trails 
throughout the City.  Starting in the early 2000s, using a grant from the River and Trails Program 
of the National Park Service, the City developed a framework for the development of a Trail 
system not only in the City but throughout the urban growth boundary.   

The result of this effort was the inclusion in the 2004 Transportation System Plan of a Non-
Motorized Trails Plan and in the 2004 Parks and Recreation Master Plan of a Dream Trails Map.  
The Parks and Recreation Master Plan notes that the City (at that time) had 1.5 miles of existing 
paths and trails, providing 0.22 miles per 1,000 population, and that the recommended level of 
service is to provide 0.59 miles per 1,000 population.  The Master Plan noted that an additional 
1.52 miles of trails were needed at that time.   

Since adoption of the Master Plans, the City has required developments to include a future trail 
designated on the Non-Motorized Trails Plan or the Dream Trails Map. The development is to 
construct the trail in a tract dedicated to either the City or to a lot-owners association with a 
public access easement.  This has resulted in the construction of trails in the Sylvan Springs 
neighborhood and the Wildlife Meadows neighborhood. Though never constructed, the Old Mill 
Village development included a trail along the Stayton Power Canal, as well. 

The Parks and Recreation Master Plan has a section on Trails and Pathways, including discussion 
on the types of trails, different surface materials, the need to work with developers to secure 
trails during the development process. A portion of the Parks System Development Charge 
assessed against new residential development is collected for the development of “linear parks” 
which are one component of the trail system. 

In 2015 the City completed a community survey. Question 8 of the survey asked, “If the City were 
to fund and/or provide City resources on a project, which of the following would you like to see 
accomplished?  

 



 
Community Trail System  Page 2 of 3  
January 22, 2019 

Answer Choices  Responses   

Fitness trail 15.3% 54 

Climbing wall 1.7% 6 

Dog park 16.8% 59 

Skate Park 23.3% 82 

Additional disc golf courses 2.3% 8 

Walking/ biking trail system 52.0% 183 

Splash pad 11.7% 41 

Improvements to community center 20.2% 71 

Services and programs for youth 53.4% 188 

Services and programs for adults over 50 25.6% 90 

None 6.5% 23 

Other (please specify)  16.2% 57 

  Total: 352 

 

The survey results indicated the community had a strong interest and placed a high value on 
walking/biking/fitness trails. As a result of this survey City Staff reviewed master trails program, 
spoke to former stakeholders in the project and began formulating plans to continue to make 
incremental progress on completing and expanding components of the plan. The goal was to be 
conscientious of potential opportunities to expand or acquire easements that would allow for 
the City to complete, or have the ability to complete, walking and biking trails as per our master 
trails program. Over the last few years the City has looked for partnerships and has made 
inquiries about requiring easements that would facilitate expansion of our trails.   

 
The results of the survey aren’t surprising. Staff in their professional development has been 
exposed to the recent values in our professional fields on the value and benefits to increasing the 
livability of a community and the enhancements that improve the quality of life beyond just the 
core functions normally associated with local government. The 2016 Oregon State Wide 
Recreational Plan stated the following, “(it has been) identified that the highest priority for 
additional trails was for walking/ hiking both inside and outside one’s community. Trails for hard 
surface biking were the next highest priority for inside, while trails for backpacking were the next 
highest priority for outside one’s community. Overall, a higher priority was placed on trails inside 
the community over trails outside. Close-to-home trail investments will maximize everyday use by 
local residents.” 



 
Community Trail System  Page 3 of 3  
January 22, 2019 

 
The benefits of trails and greenways are considered significant. Staff has been to numerous 
regional and national professional trainings where trails and greenways are extolled as 
components of communities that have a significant net benefit. In general it is accepted that trails 
and greenways promote recreation, healthy living, livable communities, reduce crime and have 
a net benefit for economic vitality and property appreciation for homes.  

In 2017, several members from the Stayton Area Rotary Club met as they wished to take on an 
ongoing community project that the Club would take the lead on.  They soon joined with the City, 
the “Stayton Roadrunners” running club and the Boy Scouts to work on undeveloped sections of 
the Trail Master Plan. They then partnered with NORPAC, several businesses and organizations 
to develop the section of trail along the Salem Ditch. This section of trail runs from N. Evergreen 
Avenue west along the south side of Salem Ditch. The trail will follow the waterway west about 
1/2 a mile to east of N. Larch Avenue. The trail will include a footbridge to cross the Salem Ditch 
and exit at W. Washington Street near N. Larch Avenue. An optional section of the trail could 
potentially follow the western property line of the NORPAC property to connect the trail to W. 
Ida Street near Larch Street. NORPAC has offered an easement for public access and in June 2018, 
the City Council authorized the City to accept the easement. 

The trail is completely on NORPAC property for which they have granted an easement. The trail 
will have a woodchip surface. Rotary and the Boy Scouts have plans to place benches along the 
trail, as well as planting native Oregon plants. The plants are being donated by a local resident 
who has offered to teach the Boy Scouts and other youth how to plant them. Rotary has plans to 
continue with other sections of the Trail Master Plan after this section is complete. 

Understandably, questions have risen from neighbors of the new trail regarding whether or not 
it would cause an increase in crime. While we can’t guarantee a crime-free area or predict what 
will happen, staff does not foresee this as a high-risk area. While officers have responded to a 
few minor issues regarding the current trails in town, overall there have not been significant 
concerns with the trails themselves. Some of the concerns residents have with a trail system are 
centered on “homeless populations” camping on the trails as they do in the Portland area. 
Stayton officers have addressed a few camping issues in the Stayton Riverfront park, but these 
incidents have not been near the trails. They have been in the brush, away from “officially 
designed” public trails. A successful crime prevention technique is to populate an area with non-
criminal activities as most criminal activity occurs out of the public view. Therefore, by installing 
community used trails, well designed parks, and other open areas designed for positive activities 
can reduce crime.  
 
 
 























 
Resolution No. 985  Page 1 of 2  

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
TO:   Mayor Henry A. Porter and the Stayton City Council 
 
Via:   Keith Campbell, City Manager 
 
FROM:  Andy Parks, Finance Consultant 
 
DATE:  January 22, 2019 
 
SUBJECT:  A resolution amending resolution 984 to conform to 

requirements under the City Charter 
  
ISSUE 

Consider authorizing an amending resolution to provide specific language “Now, Therefore, the 
City of Stayton resolves:” to Resolution 984.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that Council approve Resolution No. 985, which amends Resolution 984, 
which authorizes the City Manager or his designee to negotiate and execute documents to 
issue up to $725,000 in full faith and credit debt to finance costs associated with the 
construction of the stormwater detention facility. 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

The City’s bond counsel identified the error in the earlier resolution they prepared and is 
requesting the amendment proposed. 
 
Additional information related to the financing: 
 
Consistent with the City’s fiscal year 2018-19 adopted budget, the City Council approved a 
contract to complete the stormwater detention facility within available budgeted funds. Please 
find attached schedule of sources and uses. Consistent with the budget, up to $725,000 in debt 
was anticipated to be necessary to fund construction. 
 
The attached resolution provides the City Manager, subject to certain limitations, such as an 
interest rate not to exceed 4.5% and the term not to exceed 21 years, the authority to 
determine the final principal amount, interest rates, payment dates, prepayment rights and 
other terms of the financing agreement. Additionally to select a lender and to negotiate, 



 
Resolution No. 985  Page 2 of 2  

execute and deliver the financing agreement; comply with IRS Code related to tax-exempt 
financing and designate the obligations as tax-exempt.  
 
The security for the obligation is the full faith and credit of the City. As communicated in the 
budget meetings, and as shown in the 5-year financial plan included in the budget document, 
the debt is anticipated to be paid from stormwater user fees. As communicated previously, an 
increase in stormwater fees will be necessary to sustain operations at present levels, effective 
with the 2019-20 budget. 
 
Additionally, the resolution declares the intent to reimburse expenditures for the project with 
tax-exempt debt. There are sufficient qualifying expenditures (expenditures paid 60 days prior 
to the adoption of the resolution). 
 
FACTS AND FINDINGS 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The debt proceeds are consistent with the FY 2018-19 budget.  
 
OPTIONS  

1. Approve the attached amending resolution as presented. 
2. Not approve. (note, if not approved, Resolution 984 is insufficient to attain legal counsel’s 

opinion to secure  
 

MOTION(S) 

Offer a motion to approve Resolution No. 985 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Resolution No. 985, Amending Resolution No. 984  Page 1 of 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 985 

A RESOLUTION AMENDING RESOLUTION NO. 984 TO REPLACE ADOPTING 
CLAUSE 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Stayton, Oregon (the “City”), adopted 
Resolution No 984 on December 3, 2018 (the “Original Resolution”) authorizing a full faith and 
credit borrowing (the “Financing Agreement”) pursuant to ORS 271.390; and 

WHERAS, Chapter V, Section 19 of the City Charter requires that the adopting clause of 
a resolution must state specific language; and 

WHEREAS, the City desires to amend the adopting clause of the Original Resolution to 
conform to the requirement under Chapter V, Section 19 of the City Charter; 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City of Stayton resolves: 

Section 1. The adopting clause of Original Resolution is hereby replaced in its entirety by the 
following adopting clause: 

“NOW, THEREFORE, the City of Stayton resolves:” 

Section 2. Other than as specified in Sections 1 of this Resolution, all other terms, conditions, 
covenants and authorizations in the Original Resolution shall remain in full force and effect. 

Section 3. This Resolution shall take effect on the date of its approval by the City Council. 

 
ADOPTED BY THE STAYTON CITY COUNCIL THIS 22ND DAY OF JANUARY, 2019. 

      CITY OF STAYTON 
 
 
Signed:   , 2019   BY:__________________________             

Henry A. Porter, Mayor  
 
 
Signed:   , 2019        ATTEST: _________________________________ 
       Keith D. Campbell, City Manager 
  

 

 

  



1 
 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 

 FROM: Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 

 DATE: January 22, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Economic Development Strategies Project -- Informational 
  
 

When the City Council awarded the contract for our Economic Development Strategies program 
to Bridge Economic Development in October, it requested that staff keep in it informed as to 
the progress of the project. 

The consultant team has been busy gathering background information on the economic 
situation in Stayton. 

A Public Advisory Committee has been formed. A series of “roundtable” discussions has been 
scheduled for Tuesday, January 22 and Wednesday January 23.  On Tuesday we will be meeting 
to discuss public works issues associated with economic development efforts and a separate 
meeting with commercial real estate brokers and representatives of industrial operations in the 
City.  Wednesday’s meeting include the Public Advisory Committee, our economic development 
partners such as SEDCOR, MWVCOG, and the Chamber of Commerce, and a general meeting of 
“community leaders.” 

 


	Agenda
	Consent Agenda
	January 7, 2019 City Council Meeting Minutes

	Business From the Mayor
	Application for Committee/Commission Appointment

	Public Hearing
	Condition of Approval U Regarding Parking Restrictions in the Village Creek Subdivision

	Unfinished Business
	Annexation and Comprehensive Plan Map Amendment Applications, Hillyer Ford, Golf Lane

	New Business
	Stayton Community Trail System (Informational)
	Resolution 985, Amending Resolution 984 to Conform to Requirements Under the City Charter
	Economic Development Strategies Project (Informational)

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



